## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

FILED

07/19/2023

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 21-0513

#### No. DA 21-0513

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

TERRANCE ANTHONY ROBERTS,

Defendant and Appellant.

#### REDACTED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, the Honorable Leslie Halligan, Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

CHAD WRIGHT
Appellate Defender
DEBORAH S. SMITH
Assistant Appellate Defender
Office of State Public Defender
Appellate Defender Division
P.O. Box 200147
Helena, MT 59620-0147
debbiesmith@mt.gov
(406) 444-9505

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- (1) Did the District Court incorrectly instruct the jury that the mental state required to commit obstructing a peace officer is conduct-based? Alternatively, did Mr. Roberts receive ineffective assistance of counsel when Defense Counsel acquiesced the incorrect instruction?
- (2) Did the District Court fail to fully and fairly instruct the jury, over objection, regarding the force required for kidnapping and, without objection, regarding the mental states required for attempted kidnapping and attempted unlawful restraint? Alternatively, did Mr. Roberts receive ineffective assistance of counsel when Defense Counsel proposed or acquiesced in the incorrect mental-state instructions?
- (3) At trial, did the District Court incorrectly admit, over objection, the body-camera video of Officer Jensen's interview with Z.S.?
- (4) Did the District Court illegally designate Mr. Roberts a sexual offender? Alternatively, did Mr. Roberts receive ineffective assistance of counsel when Defense Counsel acquiesced in the designation?
- (5) Is the \$50 presentence investigation ("PSI") fee ordered in the written judgment but not in the oral pronouncement illegal?

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Mr. Roberts with: (1) attempted kidnapping, a felony, in violation of Mont. Code Ann. §§ 45-4-103, 45-5-302 (2019), and (2) obstructing a peace officer, a misdemeanor, in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-7-302(1) (2019). (D.C. Docs. 3, 27.) Mr. Roberts pled not guilty. (D.C. Doc. 6.) The case proceeded to a four-day trial.

The District Court instructed the jury that attempted unlawful restraint, a misdemeanor, in violation of Mont. Code Ann. §§ 45-4-103, 45-5-301, is a lesser-included offense of attempted kidnapping. (Tr. at 508 – 09, 607 – 08; D.C. Doc. 68.1 (Instruction 25).) The jury found Mr. Roberts guilty of attempting kidnapping, notwithstanding Defense Counsel's admission during closing argument the State proved Mr. Roberts was guilty of attempted unlawful restraint; the jury also found Mr. Roberts guilty of obstructing a peace officer. (Tr. at 648, 681; D.C. Doc. 74.) The District Court set the matter for sentencing and ordered a PSI, but did not order a psychosexual evaluation. (Tr. at 683 – 84.)

At sentencing, following an extended allocution with Mr. Roberts (Tr. at 707 - 30) and discussion with counsel concerning violent and sexual offender registration requirements (Tr. at 731 - 35), the District

Court imposed¹ the State's recommended sentence of 15 years in prison with no time suspended for attempted kidnapping and a concurrent sixmonth jail sentence for obstructing a peace officer (Tr. at 735 – 41, attached hereto as App. A). The District Court awarded credit for time served, imposed "the county attorney surcharges, the IT surcharge, [and] the victim/witness surcharge fee[,]"designated Mr. Roberts "a sexual or violent offender", and required him "to register as provided under Montana law" upon his release from prison. (App. A at 739 – 41.)

The written judgment conforms with the oral pronouncement in all but two respects. (D.C. Doc. 86, attached hereto as App. B.) First, the judgment declares the District Court "shall determine an appropriate level designation after receipt of a sexual offender evaluation." (App. B at 2.) The judgment requires Mr. Roberts to register as a sexual offender under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-23-502(9), and orders him "to submit to a sexual offender evaluation to establish a level designation for purposes of registration. Upon completion of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Z.S.'s father derided "judges that give too many second, third, eighth, and fifteenth chances" and threatened Mr. Roberts vigilantestyle, declaring, "Terrance, you are lucky that the police got to you before I did. Anyone that knows me . . . knows there would be no need for law enforcement to get involved." (Tr. at 701.)

evaluation, the Court will entertain a request from the State or Defense to establish the appropriate level designation for registration." (App. B at 4, ¶ 4.) Second, the judgment veers from the oral pronouncement by purporting to impose "a \$50 fee for completion of the PSI report" that was not imposed orally in open court during sentencing. (App. B at 3.)

Mr. Roberts timely appealed.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Terrance Roberts, a Native American man, has struggled with chemical and alcohol dependency and mental health disorders for many years. (Tr. at 706 - 11; D.C. Doc. 84 at 3, Exh's. A at 6 - 8, B at  $1 - 2.^2$ ) He was adopted at age two, but his adopted parents "weren't there for [him]"

his birth parents were alcoholics and other family members had a hard time making ends meet, so he could not stay with them. (Tr. at 711,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The two exhibits to Defendant's Sentencing Memorandum contain confidential medical and personal identifiable information required to be redacted pursuant to M. R. App. P. 10(7)(a), (b). (D.C. Doc. 84, Exh's. A, B.)

712; D.C. Doc. 84, Exh. A at 8.) Mr. Roberts's chronic conditions have led him to commit thefts, assaults, robberies, and illegal drug possession, which in turn have caused him to be incarcerated for much of his adult life. (Tr. at 712 – 23; D.C. Doc. 84 at 3, Exh. B at 3.) None of Mr. Roberts's prior offenses involves partner or family violence, kidnapping, sex, or children. (Tr. at 718.) Mr. Roberts has not received adequate care to manage his conditions successfully, either in or out of prison; in prison he was suicidal and engaged in self-harm. (Tr. at 725; D.C. Doc. 84 at 3, Exh's. A at 8 – 12, B at 3.)

In July 2020, Mr. Roberts, then 47-years-old, boarded a bus from Bismarck, North Dakota, intending to go to Sacramento, California. He only had enough bus fare to get to Missoula, however, so Mr. Roberts got off the bus there, hoping to get assistance from Salvation Army or a church to make it the rest of the way to California. (Exh. 30 at 1:39 – 2:00; Tr. at 727.) The day after Mr. Roberts arrived in Missoula was hot and sunny. (Tr. at 300 - 01, 353, 372 - 73, 404; Tr. Exh's. 4 - 6, 9, 21 - 27.) Mr. Roberts went downtown and to a park with a Native American man he met in Missoula. (Exh. 30 at 2:53 - 3:32; Tr. at 707.) Lots of people were at the park that afternoon. (Tr. at 288, 313 - 14.)

Eventually, Mr. Roberts and the man parted ways in the park. (Exh. 30 at Tr. at 707.)

Mr. Roberts approached 16-year-old Z.S., who was standing by herself in a bikini on the observation deck overlooking Brennan's Wave, waiting for her two friends who were surfing. (Tr. at 318 – 34.) After Mr. Roberts started making small talk with Z.S., she picked up her surfboard from a bench and put it behind her to block his view. (Tr. at 330, 334 – 35.) Z.S. stated Mr. Roberts was standing only 6 – 12 inches behind her, which made her "very uncomfortable." (Tr. at 334 – 35.) Z.S. thought they talked "max eight minutes." (Tr. at 364.)

Z.S. walked off the deck and headed downstream to a path leading to the river where she hoped to meet up with her friends as they finished surfing so she would not be alone. (Tr. at 335 – 36.) Mr. Roberts followed closely behind her. (Tr. at 336.) Z.S. told Mr. Roberts, "You're making me very uncomfortable[,]" to which he responded, "I shouldn't be making you feel uncomfortable." (Tr. at 337.) Z.S. turned around to face Mr. Roberts as he spoke. She testified, "[H]e grabbed my right upper arm and said, you're coming with me[,]"although she told her two friends and an investigating officer soon after the alleged

incident occurred that Mr. Roberts said, "Come with me." (Tr. at 337, 363 - 64, 394, 402; Exh. 9 at 0.50 - 0.52, 1.51 - 1.53.)

Z.S. testified Mr. Roberts grabbed her arm "[p]retty tightly; enough where I wasn't able to get away on my own." (Tr. at 337 – 38.) She was "[a] hundred percent" convinced Mr. Roberts's statement was a command, not a question. (Tr. at 339, 382.) Z.S. stated Mr. Roberts pulled her arm "enough for [her] to be able to lose my balance a little and kind of go with him, but not enough for him to take me anywhere." (Tr. at 343.) She thought she moved about three or four steps. (Tr. at 343.) Z.S. said Mr. Roberts's grip was painful, "[p]robably an 8 or 9" on a scale of 10. (Tr. at 339 – 40.) She felt like she had no control over her own body when Mr. Roberts first grabbed her. (Tr. at 382.)

After perhaps ten seconds, Z.S. pulled her arm away from Mr. Roberts's grasp as she used her left arm to thwack him with the surfboard she was holding. (Tr. at 338.) Mr. Roberts's grip lessened and she "just ripped [her] arm out of his hand and started running downstream" after releasing the tether from her ankle to the surfboard. (Tr. at 339, 368.) Z.S. said Mr. Roberts held her arm for 15 seconds total. (Tr. at 394.) She testified Mr. Roberts ran off upstream as she

ran downstream as fast as she could on the paved trail in her bare feet. (Tr. at 340.) Another witness who had observed part of Mr. Roberts's interactions with Z.S. testified that Mr. Roberts walked, not ran, away from Z.S. as she ran in the other direction. (Tr. at 416.)

Z.S. met a father and daughter who stayed with her until her friends ran up to her; they had seen Z.S. when they were a little further downstream as she was crying and talking to the father and daughter. (Tr. at 341, 372.) Once Z.S. and her friends got back to the car, Z.S. called her dad and mom. One of her friends called 911. (Tr. at 341 – 43, 388 – 390, 401, 460.) Multiple witnesses testified Z.S. was upset and visibly shaken after the incident. (Tr. at 387 – 88, 393, 398 – 99, 460 – 61.) Z.S. estimated about 10 to 15 minutes passed between the time Mr. Roberts grabbed her arm and her friend called 911. (Tr. at 344, 378.) Z.S. estimated law enforcement responded about 25 to 30 minutes after the alleged incident occurred. (Tr. at 344 – 45.)

Various people observed Mr. Roberts in or near the park that day. One person was a mom who had been paddleboarding on the river with her 18-year-old daughter. (Tr. at 287-88.) As they were loading their paddleboards onto the roof of their car in the parking lot, they saw Mr.

Roberts sitting nearby and injecting something from a syringe into his arm. Mr. Roberts told them, "I'm sorry you had to see that;" he stood up and tried to help them get their paddleboards tied to their car's cross rails before walking away. (Tr. at 289 - 91.) As the mom and daughter drove away, the mom observed Mr. Roberts walking around the park talking to people he did not appear to know, including young women or girls. (Tr. at 291 - 93.) The mom denied feeling afraid or in danger, but called 911 on the drive home at 5:48 p.m., because she perceived her daughter was upset and thought "that maybe the police could come and remove him from the situation." (Tr. at 294 - 95, 299 - 300. See also Tr. at 304 - 09.) She was concerned as a parent. (Tr. at 294.)

Officer Mark Puddy was on bike patrol that day. He responded to the mom's 911 call at 5:55 p.m. He quickly located Mr. Roberts talking to two young women. (Tr. at 442 – 43.) In what Puddy described as a "very quick contact," Puddy "believe[d]" he identified himself as a police officer and asked Mr. Roberts to move on. Mr. Roberts immediately complied, telling Puddy his name as he walked away. (Tr. at 443, 447.) Mr. Roberts described Puddy as "some bicycle cop or some security guy." (Exh. 30 at 3:35 – 3:43.)

Officer Jensen responded to the 911 call from Z.S.'s friend. When Jensen arrived, Z.S., her two friends, and Z.S.'s father were standing together in a parking lot adjacent to the park. (Tr. at 460; Exh. 9 at 0.14-0.20.) Jensen interviewed Z.S. in the parking lot about the incident and also walked with Z.S. over to the observation deck and trail where the interaction with Mr. Roberts occurred; the interview was captured on the body camera he was wearing. (Tr. at 459-63; Exh. 9 at 1.35-3.35, 5.13-7.45, 13.30-16.50.) He also photographed the area where the incident occurred and Z.S.'s right upper arm where Z.S. said Mr. Roberts grabbed her. (Tr. at 464-67; Exh's 4-8, 9 at 8.55-8.57, 11.18-12.28.)

Meanwhile, at 5:58 p.m., only three minutes after responding to the mom's 911 call, Puddy went pedaling in search of Mr. Roberts in response to the friend's 911 call.<sup>3</sup> Puddy soon found Mr. Roberts strolling on a sidewalk near the park and said to him, "Terrance, come here please. Terrance, come here. I need to talk to you, Terrance. No,

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Puddy testified the timeline of the two 911 calls and surrounding events indicates Mr. Roberts interacted with Z.S. near Brennan's Wave *before* Puddy found him in the park talking to the two women he did not know. (Tr. at 453-54.)

come here." (Exh. 21 at 00:26-00:37.) Mr. Roberts recognized Puddy from their first encounter, but he did not want to talk to Puddy and started walking away from him. (Exh. 21 at 00:32-00:40.) Mr. Roberts explained later to a detective that he did not stop because he did not know who Puddy was or that he was a police officer, explaining he did not see a badge on Puddy and Puddy did not identify himself as a police officer. (Exh. 30 at 3:58-4:30.) Mr. Roberts said he did not want to talk to Puddy, but wanted to keep socializing with other people in the park. (Exh. 30 at 4:30-4:40.)

Puddy was wearing a body camera as he biked to catch up to Mr. Roberts and called out, "Yeah, cause I need to talk to you. I need you to take a seat on the bench for me." (Exh. 21 at 1:02 – 1:07.) Mr. Roberts said something indecipherable, then turned and walked away from Puddy. Puddy pedaled after him and responded, "Yeah, Terrance.

Terrance, you're detained right now. You can't leave." (Exh. 21 at 1:08 – 1:13.) Mr. Roberts kept walking away from Puddy while Puddy followed alongside on his bike.

After 20-some seconds, Mr. Roberts hopped an embankment into the Holiday Inn parking lot and got out of Puddy's line of sight. (Exh.

21 at 1:14 – 1:40.) Puddy pursued him on his bike, pedaling fast and hard to catch up to Mr. Roberts in the parking lot. About 30 seconds later, Puddy spied Mr. Roberts in the parking lot. (Exh. 21 at 1:40 – 2:10.) For the next couple minutes Puddy and Mr. Roberts played a game of cat and mouse in the parking lot and on the sidewalk, which Puddy said was "making it difficult for me just to catch up to him." (Tr. at 448; Exh. 21 at 2:11 – 4:05.) During this chase, Puddy can be heard variously yelling to Mr. Roberts, "Terrance," "Stop, Terrance," "Stop!" "Stop! Okay . . . stop!" "Stop!". Puddy testified, "I – by saying 'stop.' I inferred that he's detained, that he needs to stop so I can talk to him." (Tr. at 447.) Puddy never announced to Mr. Roberts that he was a police officer conducting an investigation.

Puddy caught up to Mr. Roberts when Mr. Roberts tried to enter the Holiday Inn, but the doors were locked. (Exh. 21 at 4:06; Tr. at 448 – 49, 451.) Puddy got off his bike, charged a few feet toward Mr. Roberts, and yelled, "Get on the ground!", as he slammed Mr. Roberts into glass doors and shoved him face-down onto the ground. (Exh. 21 at 4:06 – 4:09.) Tr. at 5:00.) Mr. Roberts can be heard saying, "Okay, okay. I didn't do nothing wrong, man. I didn't. Okay. Ow! I told you, I

don't want help, alright?" (Exh. 21 at 4:10-4:30.) The video of the arrest is blurry and unfocused after Puddy attacked Mr. Roberts. Ultimately, the camera went completely black. Audio continued to record, but voices are muffled. (Exh. 21 at 4:49-6:10.)

Although Mr. Roberts was wearing his pants normally before Puddy tackled him, his pants were unzipped and down around his thighs as Puddy walked him, handcuffed, to Officer Cissley's patrol car for a search incident to arrest and then sat him inside the patrol car for transport to jail. (Exh. 21; Exh. 28 at 0:23 – 0:33, 1:45 – 3:39, 4:09 – 5:49.) Mr. Roberts sat in the patrol car several minutes in the back seat with his pants around his knees as at least one person peered into the rear window at him and the back door was opened for someone to view him. (Exh. 21.) Puddy described his violent arrest of Mr. Roberts, an unarmed, Native American man who suffers from mental illness, as using "persuasion." (Tr. at 448.) He labeled the force used to arrest Mr. Roberts as a "[m]inimal amount of force to effect an arrest, which was simply grabbing onto him and pushing him down on the ground." (Tr. at 448, 452.)

In a post-arrest interview, Mr. Roberts acknowledged speaking with Z.S. on the observation deck. He said they talked about surfing and were socializing. He adamantly denied grabbing her arm or telling her, "Come with me," or "You're coming with me." (Exh. 30 at 4:40 – 6:20.)

## STANDARDS OF REVIEW

"This Court reviews evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion.
... [A] court's evidentiary rulings must be supported by rules and principles of law, and as such, when an evidentiary ruling is based on conclusions of law, this Court is tasked with determining whether the court correctly interpreted the law." *State v. Pitkanen*, 2022 MT 231, ¶ 12, 410 Mont. 503, 520 P.3d 305 (citations, internal quotation marks omitted).

"This court reviews for correctness the legal determinations a lower court makes when giving jury instructions, including whether the instructions, as a whole, fully and fairly instruct the jury on the applicable law. . . . District courts are given broad discretion when instructing a jury; reversible error occurs only if the instructions prejudicially affect a defendant's substantial rights. . . . A district

court's decision on jury instructions is presumed correct, and the appellant has the burden of showing error." *State v. Lackman*, 2017 MT 127, ¶ 8, 387 Mont. 459, 461, 395 P.3d 477 (citation omitted).

Under the plain error doctrine, the Court "may discretionarily review claimed errors that implicate a criminal defendant's fundamental constitutional rights, even if no contemporaneous objection was made, where failing to review the claimed error may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, may leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial or proceedings, or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process." *State v. Wagner*, 2009 MT 256, ¶ 12, 352 Mont. 1, 215 P.3d 20 (en banc).

"Ineffective assistance of counsel claims are mixed questions of law and fact which we review de novo." *State v. Wright*, 2021 MT 239, ¶ 7, 405 Mont. 383, 495 P.3d 435 (citations omitted).

This Court reviews "a district court's imposition of sentence for legality." *State v. Thompson*, 2017 MT 107, ¶ 6, 387 Mont. 339, 294 P.3d 197 (en banc) (citations omitted).

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court incorrectly instructed the jury on the definition of "force" within Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-302, kidnapping. Instruction 19 told the jury that force did not require actual physical violence or a threat of personal injury, which is an inaccurate statement of current law. Giving the instruction was not harmless error because the only force alleged was Mr. Roberts grabbing Z.S.'s arm for a few seconds while saying, "Come with me," in a public park in broad daylight with many people nearby. Without the incorrect instruction, a reasonable jury could have concluded that such force was inadequate to attempt a kidnapping.

The District Court plainly erred by giving a conduct-based mental-state instruction for obstructing a peace officer, and by mixing together conduct- and result-based instructions on the mental state required to commit attempted kidnapping and attempted unlawful restraint. All three offenses require a result-based mental state instruction. The incorrect jury instructions confused the jury and lowered the State's burden of proof. Alternatively, Defense Counsel was ineffective in

either proposing or acquiescing in incorrect instructions that prejudiced Mr. Roberts.

The District Court incorrectly admitted Officer Jensen's bodycamera video of his encounter with Z.S. The video included Jensen's interview of Z.S., her father, and two friends, as well as a walk-through of the area where Z.S. stated the incident occurred, narrated by Z.S.. The State's contention that the video was not introduced for the truth of the matter asserted, but rather to establish Z.S.'s demeanor and show the area, is unsupported by law. The video was out-of-court testimonial evidence the State wanted the jury to see and hear to bolster the truth of the matters asserted in court. The District Court's error admitting the video was not harmless. Its emotional impact on the jury would have aroused sympathy for Z.S. at the expense of Mr. Roberts's constitutional rights to confront witnesses against him, to a fair trial by an impartial jury, and to due process of law.

Mr. Roberts's sentence is illegal in two respects. First, the District Court designated him a "sexual offender" and required him to register as such without ordering a psychosexual evaluation before sentencing and considering it at sentencing. The judgment's provisions ordering a

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