10/27/2023

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 21-0513

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 21-0513

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

TERRANCE ANTHONY ROBERTS,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, The Honorable Leslie Halligan, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
BJORN BOYER
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
bjorn.boyer@mt.gov

KIRSTEN PABST
Missoula County Attorney
MAC BLOOM
BRITTANY L. WILLIAMS
Deputy County Attorneys
200 West Broadway

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Roberts was not prejudiced by the district court instructing the jury on the conduct-based definition of "knowingly" related to the Obstructing offense.

Although the instruction was not correct, the facts leading to the conviction were captured on video and largely uncontested. Roberts ran from Office Puddy, who was in uniform and had a badge, name plate, and MPD patch visible. Roberts later

conceded he knew Officer Puddy was a "bicycle cop" or "security guy." Roberts has not shown prejudice from the instruction.

The district court's instruction on "force" was correct. The word "force" is not defined in the kidnapping statute. Under any definition this Court could assign to the word, the district court's instruction that force does not require physical violence or threat of personal injury was correct and the State met its burden of proving Roberts used "force."

Furthermore, Roberts has not carried his burden of proving that this Court should reverse under the plain error or ineffective assistance of counsel doctrine related to the district court's definition of "liberty" or for giving the conduct-based definition of "purposely" related to attempted kidnapping or attempted unlawful restraint. Although "attempt" is a results-based offense, the underlying crime of kidnapping is conduct-based. The district court did not err in providing both mental state instructions. Even if the court did err, Roberts has not shown prejudice.

The district court did not err in admitting MPD Officer Henry Jensen's (Officer Jensen) body-camera video. Z.S.'s statements admitted through the video were not hearsay because they were prior consistent statements. The State properly played the entire video to show that Z.S.'s statements were consistent with her trial testimony and rebutted Roberts' claim that she fabricated the statements because of Officer Jensen's influence. Furthermore, the statements were admissible under the

excited utterance and then existing state of mind exceptions to the hearsay rule. Finally, even if admitting the video was error, such error was harmless.

The district court did not impose an illegal sentence when it required Roberts to register as a sexual offender. Registration was required because Z.S. was a minor and not a family member, which triggers a sexual offender registration requirement pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-23-502(9)(a). Because the sentence was legal, it is not reviewable on appeal. Finally, the district court erred when it imposed a \$50 PSI fee for the first time in the written judgment.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of review

"This Court reviews decisions regarding jury instructions for an abuse of discretion." *State v. Wells*, 2021 MT 103, ¶ 13, 404 Mont. 105, 485 P.3d 1220. Where the claimed instructional error is unpreserved for appeal, this Court will only "choose to exercise discretionary plain error review where the alleged error may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, leaves unsettled questions of fundamental fairness, or compromises the integrity of the judicial process." *Id.* "Ineffective assistance of counsel claims are mixed questions of law and fact which [this Court] review[s] de novo." *State v. Secrease*, 2021 MT 212, ¶ 9, 405 Mont. 229, 493 P.3d 335.

"This Court reviews evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion." *State v. Pitkanen*, 2022 MT 231, ¶ 12, 410 Mont. 503, 520 P.3d 305.

"This Court reviews a district court's sentence de novo for legality." Pitkanen, ¶ 12.

II. Roberts was not prejudiced by the district court providing the jury with the incorrect "knowingly" instruction for Obstructing.

Roberts is not entitled to a reversal of his conviction for Obstructing because he was not prejudiced by the district court's instruction. At trial, the court gave the conduct-based "knowingly" instruction without objection from Roberts. (Tr. at 610.) On appeal, Roberts argues this Court should reverse the Obstructing conviction under either a plain error or ineffective assistance of counsel theory. (Appellant's Br. (Br.) at 18-23.)

"A person commits the offense of [Obstructing] if the person knowingly obstructs, impairs, or hinders the enforcement of the criminal law[.]" Mont. Code Ann. § 45-7-302(1). This Court has held that, "for the purposes of instructing the jury on the charge of obstructing a peace officer, the results-based 'knowingly' instruction should be given." *Secrease*, ¶ 12; *see also City of Kalispell v. Cameron*, 2002 MT 78, ¶ 11, 309 Mont. 248, 46 P.3d 46.

This Court invokes plain error sparingly and only if the error "implicates a party's fundamental constitutional rights and if 'failing to review the claimed error

at issue may: (1) result in a manifest miscarriage of justice; (2) leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial or proceedings; or (3) compromise the integrity of the judicial process." *State v. Daniels*, 2019 MT 214, ¶ 30, 397 Mont. 204, 448 P.3d 511 (citation omitted). This Court "will not reverse on the basis of [a district court's] instructions" unless the error "prejudicially affects a defendant's substantial rights." *Daniels*, ¶ 26.

In evaluating ineffective assistance of counsel claims, this Court applies the two-pronged test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). *Secrease*, ¶ 13. The *Strickland* test requires the defendant to prove that (1) "counsel's performance was deficient or fell below an objective standard of reasonableness' and (2) 'establish prejudice by demonstrating that there was a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different." *Id.* (quoting S*tate v. Kougl*, 2004 MT 243, ¶ 11, 323 Mont. 6, 97 P.3d 1095).

In *Secrease*, this Court found that Secrease's attorneys' performance was deficient because there was no plausible justification for their failure "to seek the correct 'knowingly' jury instruction on the obstructing a peace officer charge"

Secrease, ¶ 15. This court further found that Secrease was prejudiced, stating:

By instructing the jury that Secrease only need[ed] to be aware of his conduct—that he was refusing the blood test—rather than properly instructing them that Secrease needed to be aware of the result of his conduct—that refusing the blood test after Trooper Burton had

obtained a search warrant was obstructing, hindering, or impairing the enforcement of the criminal law—the State's burden in proving the crime was reduced.

Id.

Here, even if Roberts' counsel was deficient, to merit reversal under either the theory of plain error review or ineffective assistance of counsel, Roberts must prove prejudice. He has failed to do so.

To convict Roberts of obstructing a peace officer, the State needed to prove that Roberts was aware his conduct would hinder the execution of Officer Puddy's duties. *See Cameron*, ¶ 11. Officer Puddy first contacted Roberts in the park as Roberts spoke with two females. Officer Puddy was in a police uniform with a badge, name plate, and MPD patch. At that time, Roberts recognized Officer Puddy's authority to instruct him to move along. However, during the second contact, Roberts did not follow Officer Puddy's directives to "stop" or "come here," opting instead to run away. Officer Puddy told Roberts, "I need to talk to you. I need you to take a seat on the bench for me." (Ex. 21 at 1:02-1:07.) Officer Puddy further advised Roberts of his authority by stating, "you're detained right now. You can't leave." (Ex. 21 at 1:08-1:13).

This evidence was captured on Officer Puddy's body-camera and was not contested at trial. Despite this show of authority and clear signal to Roberts that he was the subject of an investigation, Roberts ran away and played a game of

cat-and-mouse in the Holiday Inn parking lot. Although Roberts claimed ignorance that Officer Puddy had the authority to stop him, he also conceded that he knew Officer Puddy was a "bicycle cop" or "security guy." (Tr. at 547, Ex. 30 at 3:35-3:43) Given the overwhelming evidence that Roberts recognized Officer Puddy as a police officer and knowingly evaded him to hinder an investigation, Roberts has not met his burden of showing prejudice by the incorrect instruction.

Therefore, this case is distinguishable from *Secrease*. Secrease refused to comply with a blood draw after the trooper had obtained a warrant. *Secrease*, ¶ 5. Importantly, prior to the blood draw, the trooper read Secrease the Montana Implied Consent advisory, which informed Secrease he could refuse the test, but also provided a consequence for doing so—the loss of his Montana driving privileges. *See id.* After explicitly being told that he could refuse, it would have been rational for Secrease to continue to refuse even after the trooper obtained a warrant.

The jury was also apparently confused by the contradiction, sending the district court a note, asking, "if the blood test & breath test are refused after a warrant is issued, is that obstructing, hindering or impairing the law[?]" *Secrease*, ¶ 7. Here, no such confusion existed. Roberts knew Officer Puddy was a police officer and he knew Officer Puddy wanted to detain him to speak to him about an investigation.

On appeal, Roberts concedes that he "was evading Puddy's directions to stop and talk to him[,]" but not that he "knew he was hindering Officer Puddy's investigation into Z.S.'s allegations." (Br. at 22-23.) In sum, Roberts argues that to hinder an investigation, the defendant must know, not only that an investigation is taking place, but the precise nature of the allegations behind the investigation. Roberts is mistaken.

Officer Puddy had particularized suspicion to detain Roberts for his investigation. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-5-401(1). Furthermore, an officer is only required to "as promptly as possible inform the person of the reason for the stop" if the stop is for a traffic violation. *Id.* Simply put, there is no requirement that an officer inform a fleeing suspect of the allegations against him. Obstructing requires a knowledge that the officer is conducting an investigation; it does not require the suspect to know any details of the investigation. Here, Roberts knew Officer Puddy was attempting to detain him to ask him questions about an investigation. Roberts obstructed the investigation by running away.

Roberts did not suffer prejudice by the court instructing the jury on the conduct-based definition of "knowingly." Accordingly, his requests for plain error review and reversal for ineffective assistance of counsel both fail.

III. The district court did not abuse its discretion with its definitions of "force," "liberty," or the mental states for attempted kidnapping and attempted unlawful restraint.

"[D]istrict courts are accorded broad discretion in formulating jury instructions." *State v. Archambault*, 2007 MT 26, ¶ 25, 336 Mont. 6, 152 P.3d 698. Although a court must fully and fairly instruct the jury regarding the applicable law, "the fact that one instruction, standing alone, was not as complete or accurate as it could have been is not reversible error[.]" *Id.* As noted above, to merit reversal, a mistake in the instructions "must prejudicially affect the defendant's substantial rights." *Daniels*, ¶ 26.

For the reasons set forth below, the district court did not abuse its discretion with its instructions related to "force," the definition of "liberty," or the mental states required for attempted kidnapping and attempted unlawful restraint.

Furthermore, even if one of the instructions was incorrect, Roberts was not prejudiced and, therefore, his case should not be reversed.

A. The district court did not abuse its discretion with its instruction on "force."

Attempted kidnapping requires the State to prove a defendant performed any act toward the commission of a kidnapping. Mont. Code Ann. § 45-4-103. In turn, "kidnapping" requires a defendant to "knowingly or purposely and without lawful authority restrain[] another person by . . . using or threatening to use physical

force." Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-302(1). The term "force" is not defined in the kidnapping statute. *See id*.

Roberts proposed instructing the jury that "force" required a "physical or violent act." (Doc. 47, proposed Instr. 13.) The theory behind Roberts' proposed instruction was rejected by this Court in *State v. Walker*, 139 Mont. 276, 362 P.2d 548 (1961).

Walker was a participant in a prison riot at MSP. *Walker*, 139 Mont. at 277, 362 P.2d at 549. Walker showed a knife to a guard, without explicitly threatening him with the knife, to convince him to go into an isolation cell, where the guard remained for several hours before being locked in a different cell during the riot. *Id.* Walker argued that the presence of the knife alone was insufficient to prove force. *Walker*, 139 Mont. at 278, 362 P.2d at 550. This Court disagreed, stating that "[t]here is no merit in [Walker's] contention that there must be a showing of actual physical violence or threat of personal injury to prove the force necessary to establish the crime." *Walker*, 139 Mont. at 280, 362 P.2d at 550.

Although the kidnapping statute has changed since *Walker*, the premise that "force" does not require a showing of actual physical violence or threat of personal injury has carried forward to the new statute. *See* Commission Comment to Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-302 (stating: "It should be noted that subsection (1) conforms with current Montana law, that a showing of actual physical violence or threat of

personal injury are not required to prove the force necessary to establish the crime.").

Furthermore, although "force" is not defined in the kidnapping statute, it is defined elsewhere in the criminal code. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-501(2). As used in the aggravated sexual intercourse without consent statute, "force" means "the infliction, attempted infliction, or threatened infliction of bodily injury"

Id. "Bodily injury" is defined as any "physical pain, illness, or an impairment of physical condition and includes mental illness or impairment." Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(5).

"Whenever the meaning of a word or phrase is defined in any part of [the] code, such definition is applicable to the same word or phrase wherever it occurs, except where a contrary intention plainly appears." Mont. Code Ann. § 1-2-107. Here, the Legislature has not indicated a plain intention that the "force" definition found in Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-501(2) should not be applied elsewhere. *See Dep't of Revenue v. Gallatin Outpatient Clinic*, 234 Mont. 425, 430, 763 P.2d 1128, 1131 (1988).

However, in a case decided after the adoption of the new kidnapping statute, this Court again applied a definition of force that did not require the threat or infliction of bodily injury. *See State v. Herrera*, 197 Mont. 462, 465, 643 P.2d 588, 590 (1982). Herrera hid in the bushes while two young girls, one 12 and the other

14 years old, walked by. *Herrera*, 197 Mont. at 464, 643 P.2d at 589. Herrera called out to the two girls and, when they attempted to run, he grabbed them from behind and "dragged" them back to his father's residence. *Id*.

Once inside his father's house, the girls were "ordered to sit down" and to take off their clothes. *Herrera*, 197 Mont. at 464, 643 P.2d at 589-90. When the girls refused, Herrera went and retrieved a gun and put it on the couch, though he did not explicitly threaten either girl with the gun. *Herrera*, 197 Mont. at 465, 643 P.2d at 590. The girls were able to escape. *Id*. On appeal, Herrera argued the State had not proved the "force" element of kidnapping. *Id*. This Court held that "the use of force was well established by the evidence. The girls were physically dragged to [the father's] residence, and once inside, were forced into their chairs." *Id*.

Although this Court in *Herrera* did not specifically define "force," it appears to have applied the common meaning of the word. Prior to the Legislature adopting a definition of "force" for aggravated sexual intercourse without consent, this Court applied "the ordinary and normal definition" of "force" as it related to that statute. *See State v. Thompson*, 243 Mont. 28, 32, 792 P.2d 1103, 1106 (1990) (*overruled on other grounds by State v. Spreadbury*, 2011 MT 176, ¶ 10, 361 Mont. 253, 257 P.3d 392, and abrogated by statute Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-501(2)).

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